

QualityRights

# Implementing improvement plans for service change

WHO QualityRights training to act, unite and empower for mental health

### (PILOT VERSION)

**Contact Information:** 

Michelle Funk, Coordinator <u>funkm@who.int</u> Natalie Drew, Technical Officer <u>drewn@who.int</u>

**Prepared by** Mental Health Policy and Service Development Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse World Health Organization, Geneva



### WHO/MSD/MHP/17.7

#### © World Health Organization 2017

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

**Suggested citation**. Implementing improvement plans for service change - WHO QualityRights training to act, unite and empower for mental health (pilot version). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO/MSD/MHP/17.7). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

**Sales, rights and licensing.** To purchase WHO publications, see <u>http://apps.who.int/bookorders</u>. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see <u>http://www.who.int/about/licensing</u>.

**Third-party materials.** If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

## Contents

Acknowledgments3
What is the WHO QualityRights initiative?5
WHO QualityRights - Guidance and training tools6
About this training and guidance7
Guidance for facilitators8
Preliminary note on language10
Learning objectives, topics and resources11
Actions required before training13
Welcome and Introduction14
Topic 1: Understanding the quality and human rights conditions of mental health and related services
Topic 2: Defining core values and a shared vision for the service20
Topic 3: Service culture and change22
Topic 4: Specific priorities for change in the service based on the QualityRights assessment
tool kit36
Topic 5: From problems to solutions and from action to impact
Topic 6: Moving forward51
Annexes53
Annex 1: Themes and standards of the WHO QualityRights Tool Kit
Annex 2: Reflecting on areas of improvement55
Annex 3: Defining core values and a vision for the service
Annex 4: Challenges to overcome in the service culture57
Annex 5: Analysis of visible factors, values and basic underlying assumptions in the service culture
Appendix 6: Priorities for change59
Annex 7: Improvement plan template for each priority strategy identified60
References61

## Acknowledgments

### Coordination, conceptualisation and writing:

Michelle Funk (WHO, Geneva)

Natalie Drew Bold (WHO, Geneva)

### Advisors and contributing writers

WHO would like to thank the following individuals in their advisory role and for writing contributions:

Marie Baudel (France), Celia Brown (USA), Mauro Carta (Italy), Sera Davidow (USA), Theresia Degener (Germany), Catalina Devandas Aguilar (Switzerland), Julian Eaton (United Kingdom), Rabih El Chammay (Lebanon), Salam Gómez (Colombia), Rachel Kachaje (Malawi), Elizabeth Kamundia (Kenya), Diane Kingston (United Kingdom), Itzhak Levav (Israel), Peter McGovern (United Kingdom), David McGrath (Australia), Peter Mittler (United Kingdom), Maria Francesca Moro (Italy), David Oaks (USA), Soumitra Pathare (India), Dainius Pūras (Switzerland), Sashi Sashidharan (United Kingdom), Greg Smith (USA), Kate Swaffer (Australia), Carmen Valle (Thailand), Alberto Vásquez Encalada (Switzerland).

### **Reviewers**

WHO would also like to thank the following reviewers for their expert review and inputs:

Robinah Alumbaya (Uganda), Carla Aparecida Arena Ventura (Brazil), Anna Arstein-Kerslake (Australia), Lori Ashcraft (USA), Rod Astbury (Australia), Josef Atukunda (Uganda), David Axworthy (Australia), Sam Badege (Rwanda), Amrit Bakhshy (India) Jerome Bickenbach (Switzerland), Pat Bracken (Ireland), Simon Bradstreet (United Kingdom), Patricia Brogna (Argentina), Aleisha Carroll (Australia), Ajay Chauhan (India), Facundo Chavez Penillas (Switzerland), Louise Christie (United Kingdom), Oryx Cohen (USA), Jillian Craigie (United Kingdom), Rita Cronise (USA), Lucia de la Sierra (Switzerland), Paolo del Vecchio (USA), Alex Devine (Australia), Christopher Dowrick (United Kingdom), Ragia Elgerzawy (Egypt), Alva Finn (Belgium), Susanne Forrest (United Kingdom), Kirsty Giles (United Kingdom), Margaret Grigg (Australia), Cerdic Hall (United Kingdom), Steve Harrington (USA), Renae Hodgson (Australia), Frances Hughes (Switzerland), Maths Jesperson (Sweden), Titus Joseph (India), Dovilė Juodkaitė (Lithuania), Abu Bakar Abdul Kadir (Malaysia), Jasmine Kalha (India), Yasmin Kapadia (United Kingdom), Manaan Kar Ray (United Kingdom), Brendan Kelly (Ireland), Akwatu Khenti (Canada), Mika Kontiainen (Australia), Sadhvi Krishnamoorthy (India), Anna Kudiyarova (Kazakhstan), Laura Loli-Dano (Canada), Eleanor Longden (United Kingdom), John McCormack (United Kingdom), Colin McKay (United Kingdom), Emily McLoughlin (Ireland), Roberto Mezzina (Italy), Peter Mittler (United Kingdom), Pamela Molina (USA), Andrew Molodynski (United Kingdom), Gaia Montauti d'Harcourt (Switzerland), Raul Montoya (Mexico), Fiona Morrissey (Ireland), Lucy Mulvagh (United Kingdom), Carrie Netting (United Kingdom), Michael Njenga (Kenya), Abdelaziz Awadelseed Alhassan Osman (Sudan), Gareth Owen (United Kingdom), Elvira Pértega Andía (Spain), Thara Rangaswamy (India), Mayssa Rekhis (Tunisia), Julie Repper (United Kingdom), Genevra Richardson (United Kingdom), Jean Luc Roelandt (France), Eric Rosenthal (USA), Marianne Schulze (Austria), Tom Shakespeare (United Kingdom), Gordon Singer (Canada), Mike Slade (United Kingdom), Natasa Spasic (Australia), Michael Ashley Stein (USA), Anthony Stratford (Australia), Charlene Sunkel (South Africa), Shelly Thomson (Australia), Simon Vasseur Bacle (France), Alison Xamon (Australia).

### **WHO Administrative Support**

Patricia Robertson (WHO, Geneva)

### **WHO Interns**

Gunnhild Kjaer (Denmark), Jade Presnell (USA), Kaitlyn Lyle (USA), Yuri Lee (Republic of Korea), Stephanie Fletcher (Australia), Paul Christensen (USA), Jane Henty (Australia), Zoe Mulliez (France), Mona Alqazzaz (Egypt), Peter Varnum (USA).

### **WHO Staff**

Global coordination of the QualityRights initiative is overseen by Michelle Funk and Natalie Drew (WHO Geneva).

QualityRights implementation is being supported across the world by Nazneen Anwar (WHO/SEARO), Darryl Barrett (WHO/WPRO), Daniel Chisholm (WHO/EURO), Sebastiana Da Gama Nkomo (WHO/AFRO), Dévora Kestel (WHO/AMRO), Dr Maristela Monterio (WHO/AMRO), Khalid Saeed (WHO/EMRO) and Shekhar Saxena (WHO, Geneva).

### Donors

WHO would like to thank Grand Challenges Canada, funded by the Government of Canada, and CBM International for their generous financial support towards the development of the QualityRights training modules.

### What is the WHO QualityRights initiative?



WHO QualityRights is an initiative which aims to improve the quality of care in mental health and related services and to promote the human rights of people with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities, throughout the world. QualityRights uses a participatory approach to achieve the following objectives:

Build capacity to understand and promote human rights, recovery and independent living in the community.
 Create community based and recovery oriented services that respect and promote human rights.
 Improve the quality of care and human rights conditions in inpatient, outpatient and community based mental health and related services.
 Develop a civil society movement to conduct advocacy and influence policy-making to promote human rights.
 Reform national policies and legislation in line with best practice, the CRPD and other international human rights standards.

For more information: <u>http://www.who.int/mental\_health/policy/quality\_rights/en/</u>

## WHO QualityRights - Guidance and training tools

The following guidance and training tools are available as part of the WHO QualityRights initiative:

#### Service assessment and improvement tools

- The WHO QualityRights Assessment Tool Kit
- Implementing improvement plans for service change <del>
  </del>

#### Training tools

### Core modules

- Understanding human rights
- Promoting human rights in mental health
- Improving mental health and related service environments and promoting community inclusion
- Realising recovery and the right to health in mental health and related services
- Protecting the right to legal capacity in mental health and related services
- Creating mental health and related services free from coercion, violence and abuse

#### Advanced modules

- Realising supported decision making and advance planning
- Strategies to end the use of seclusion, restraint and other coercive practices
- Promoting recovery in mental health and related services
- Promoting recovery in mental health and related services: handbook for personal use and teaching

### **Guidance tools**

- Providing individualized peer support in mental health and related areas
- Creating peer support groups in mental health and related areas
- Setting up and operating a civil society organization in mental health and related areas
- Advocacy actions to promote human rights in mental health and related areas
- Putting in place policy and procedures for mental health and related services (in preparation)
- Developing national and state-level policy and legislation in mental health and related areas (in preparation)
- Guidance on CRPD compliant community-based services and supports in mental health and related areas (in preparation)

### About this training and guidance

This module has been developed to provide training and guidance to improve the quality of care and human rights conditions in inpatient, outpatient and community based mental health and related services, following the conduct of a comprehensive assessment using the WHO QualityRights assessment toolkit.

### Who is this training workshop and guidance for?

- People with psychosocial disabilities
- People with intellectual disabilities
- People with cognitive disabilities, including dementia
- People who are using or who have previously used mental health and related services
- Managers of general health, mental health and related services
- Mental health and other practitioners (e.g. doctors, nurses, psychiatrists, psychiatric nurses, neurologists, geriatricians, psychologists, occupational therapists, social workers, peers supporters and volunteers)
- Other staff working in or delivering mental health and related services (e.g. attendants, cleaning, cooking, maintenance staff)
- Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs), associations and faith-based organizations working in the area of mental health, human rights or other relevant areas (e.g. Organizations of Persons with Disabilities (DPOs); Organization of users/survivors of psychiatry, Advocacy Organizations)
- Families, care partners and others support people
- **Other government institutions and services** (e.g. the police, the judiciary, prison staff, law reform commissions, disability councils and national human rights institutions)
- Other relevant organizations and stakeholders (e.g. advocates, lawyers and legal aid organizations)

### Who should deliver the training?

Training should be delivered by a multi-disciplinary team including people with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities, DPOs, professionals working in the area of mental health and related services, families and others with lived and/or professional experience in the area of mental health

The team conducting the training may differ depending on focus. For example, if the training is about addressing the rights of people with a psychosocial disability, it would be more important to have representatives from that group as leads to delivering the training rather than people with dementia, intellectual disabilities, autism or others and vice versa. However, nothing precludes the possibility of having multiple groups leading the training.

## **Guidance for facilitators**

### Principles for running the training programme

### Participation and interaction

Participation and interaction are crucial to the success of the training. By providing sufficient space and time, the facilitator must first and foremost make sure that the people who are using mental health and related services are being listened to and included. Certain power dynamics within services might make some people reluctant to express their views. In general, the facilitator must emphasize the importance of including the views of all participants.

Some people may feel quite shy and not express themselves. Facilitators should make sure to encourage and engage everyone. Usually, after people have expressed themselves once, they are more able and willing to speak and engage in ongoing discussions. The training is a shared learning experience.

Facilitators are expected to engage participants in a way that draws on the experience and knowledge already existing within the group participating in the training. They will need to supervise and monitor the dynamics and discussions among participants.

### Cultural sensitivity

Facilitators should be mindful of using culturally sensitive language and providing examples relevant to people living in the country or region where the training is taking place. In addition, facilitators should make sure that the specific issues faced by particular groups in the country or region (e.g. indigenous people and other ethnic minorities, religious minorities, women, etc.) are not overlooked when carrying out the training.

### Open, non-judgmental environment

Open discussions are essential and everyone's views deserve to be listened to. The purpose of the training is to work together to find ways to improve the situation within the service, organisation or association, not to name and blame individuals for their particular conduct in the past. Facilitators should ensure that during the training, no-one is targeted in a way that makes them feel uncomfortable (e.g. attributing the blame to staff or families, etc.). Facilitators should avoid interrupting participants. It is not necessary to agree with people to effectively communicate with them. It may be necessary to withhold criticisms in order to fully understand a person's perspective.

### Use of language

In addition, facilitators should be mindful of the diversity of the audience. People participating in the training will have different backgrounds and levels of education. It is important to use language that all participants are able to understand (e.g. avoiding the use of highly specialised medical, legalistic and technical terms, acronyms, etc.) and to ensure that all participants understand the key concepts and messages. With this in mind, facilitators should pause, take the time to ask and discuss questions with participants to ensure that concepts and messages are properly understood.

### Operating in the current legislature and policy context

During the training, some participants may express concerns about the legislative or policy context in their countries. Indeed, some of the content may contradict national legislation or policy. For example, the topic on supported decision making may appear to conflict with existing national guardianship laws. Similarly, laws that provide for involuntary detention and treatment contradict the overall approach of these modules. This can raise issues and concerns, particularly around professional liability.

First, facilitators should reassure participants that the modules are not intended to encourage practices which conflict with the requirements of the law. When the law and policy contradict the standards of the CRPD it is important to advocate for policy change and law reform. In this context it is also necessary to acknowledge that it will not happen immediately. However, an outdated legal and policy framework should not prevent individuals from taking action. A lot can be done at the individual level, on a day to day basis to change the attitudes and practices within the boundaries of the law. For example, even if guardians are officially mandated to make decisions on people's behalf based on a countries law, this does not prevent them from supporting people in reaching their own decisions and from ultimately respecting their choices. In this way, they will be making important strides towards implementing a supported decision making approach.

Throughout the training, facilitators should encourage participants to discuss how the new paradigms, actions and strategies promoted in the training materials can be implemented within the parameters of existing policy and law frameworks. Hopefully, the shift in attitudes and practices, along with effective advocacy, will lead to change in policy and law reform.

### Being positive and inspiring

Facilitators should emphasise that the training is not about lecturing people or telling people what to do but to give them the basic knowledge and tools to find solutions for themselves. Most likely many participants already carry out many positives actions. It is possible to build on these to demonstrate that everybody can be an actor for change.

#### Group work

Throughout the exercises of the training, the facilitator needs to assess carefully whether participants will benefit from being placed in separate groups or in mixed groups that include both people who are using the service, staff, and family and care partners. As noted earlier, feelings of disempowerment, hesitation and fear, which can arise in mixed groups if participants do not feel comfortable in that setting, should be taken into account. Exercises are based on participation and discussion and should allow participants to reach solutions by themselves. The facilitators' role is to guide plenary discussions and when appropriate, prompt with specific ideas or challenges to facilitate the discussion.

### Facilitator notes

The training modules incorporate facilitator notes which are in **blue**. The facilitator notes include examples of answers or other instructions for facilitators, which are not intended to be read out to participants. The content of the presentation, questions and statements intended to be read out to participants are written in **black**.

## **Preliminary note on language**

We acknowledge that language and terminology reflects the evolving conceptualisation of disability and that different terms will be used by different people across contexts over time. People must be able to decide on the words that others use to describe them. It is an individual choice to selfidentify or not, but human rights still apply to everyone, everywhere.

Above all, a diagnosis or disability should never define a person because we are all individuals, with a unique personality, autonomy, dreams, goals and aspirations and relationships to others.

The choice of terminology adopted in this document has been selected for the sake of inclusiveness.

The term psychosocial disability includes people who have received a mental health related diagnosis or who self-identify with this term. The terms cognitive disability and intellectual disability are designed to cover people who have received a diagnosis specifically related to their cognitive or intellectual function including but not limited to dementia and autism.

The use of the term disability is important in this context because it highlights the significant barriers that hinder people's full and effective participation in society.

We use the terms "people who are using" or "who have previously used" mental health and related services to also cover people who do not necessarily identify as having a disability but who have a variety of experiences applicable to this training.

In relation to mental health, some people prefer using expressions such as "people with a psychiatric diagnosis", "people with mental disorders" or "mental illnesses", "people with mental health conditions", "consumers", "service users" or "psychiatric survivors". Others find some or all these terms stigmatising.

In addition, the use of the term "mental health and related services" in these modules refers to a wide range of services including for example, community mental health centres, primary care clinics, outpatient care provided by general hospitals, psychiatric hospitals, psychiatric wards in general hospitals, rehabilitation centres, day care centres, orphanages, homes for older people, memory clinics, homes for children and other 'group' homes, as well as home-based services and supports provided by a wide range of health and social care providers within public, private and non-governmental sectors.

## Learning objectives, topics and resources

Learning objectives

Participants will:

- Gain an in-depth knowledge of the results from the QualityRights assessment that has taken place in the mental health or related service;
- Understand how the results of the QualityRights assessment apply to all 5 themes within the QualityRights tool kit that have been covered in previous modules;
- Have space to discuss the results of the QualityRights assessment, the reasons for the results as well as their implications for the future of the service;
- As a group identify priority areas for action based on the QualityRights assessment results;
- Develop the skills needed to collaboratively develop and implement an improvement plan.

### **Topics**

**Topic 1:** Understanding the quality and human rights conditions of mental health and related services

Topic 2: Defining a shared vision for the service

Topic 3: Service culture and change

Topic 4: Specific priorities for change in the service based on the QualityRights assessment tool kit

Topic 5: From problems to solutions and from action to impact

Topic 6: Moving forward

### **Resources required**

To optimise the learning experience for participants, the room in which the training takes place should be:

- Large enough to accommodate everyone, but also small enough to create an intimate environment conducive to free and open discussions
- Flexible, in terms of enabling the change of seating arrangements (for example movable seats so that people can get into groups for group discussions)

### Additional resources needed include:

- Internet access in the room, in order to show videos
- Loud speakers for the video audio
- Projector screen and projector equipment
- 1 or more microphones for facilitator(s) and at least 3 additional wireless microphones for participants
- At least 2 flip charts or similar and paper and pens
- Presentation slides, prepared in advance by the facilitator, outlining the QualityRights assessment report for the service (See QualityRights assessment tool kit for further details about the assessment)
- Copies of the QualityRights assessment report
- Hard copies of the presentation *Moving from problems to solutions* in Topic 5 for each participant
- Copies of Annexes 1-7 and extra copies of Annex 7 for all participants

### Time 16 hours

### Number of participants

Based on experience to date, the workshop works best with about 25 people. This allows sufficient opportunities for everyone to interact and express their ideas.

## **Actions required before training**

Prior to conducting the training, it is important that the following actions have been taken:

- Directly involve senior management and make sure to have their endorsement and support
- Discuss QualityRights assessment findings with service management and the next steps to be taken
- Emphasize the importance of their support and how improvements will benefit everyone
- Emphasize that the assessment, improvement plans and follow-up actions are not being conducted to blame people, but to allow everyone to work together to improve the situation
- Ensure that all relevant stakeholders are invited for the training and actively involved in the implementation process and various working groups

### Welcome and Introduction

Give participants an opportunity to explain their own background and their expectations for the day (if relevant). **(10 min)** 

**Trigger warning**: It is important to highlight at the start of the training that this module may provoke difficult emotions for people who may have been through traumatic experiences of non-recovery approaches. Moreover, mental health and other practitioners may feel that they have been responsible for preventing recovery despite good intentions.

Facilitators should be mindful of this and let participants know that they should feel free to step out of the training session if they need to until they feel able to participate again (please refer to *Guidance for facilitators* for more information).

## Topic 1: Understanding the quality and human rights conditions of mental health and related services

### Presentation: Recap the 5 themes within the QualityRights assessment tool kit (30 min.)

Remind the group that the QualityRights assessment has measured service performance against these themes. The first presentation introduces the 5 themes within the QualityRights assessment tool kit (1).

### The five themes in QualityRights are:

- 1. The right to an adequate standard of living
- 2. The right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health
- 3. The right to exercise legal capacity and the right to personal liberty and security of person
- 4. Freedom from torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment and from exploitation, violence and abuse
- 5. The right to live independently and be included in the community

### What is the purpose of the QualityRights assessment tool kit?

- The QualityRights assessment tool kit is designed to support countries (and services) in assessing and improving the quality of mental health and related services and their compliance with international human rights standards.
- The assessment is a means through which services can identify and end poor quality care and human rights violations.
- The themes in the tool kit are based on the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) which is a legally binding treaty that outlines the rights that should be respected, protected and fulfilled for all people with disabilities, including people with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities.
- The QualityRights assessment tool kit is not about promoting institutions or fixing them. Large mental health and related services, institutions or hospitals which are isolated and unconnected to the community should be closed and replaced with a network of services based in the community. At the same time, we should never abandon people in institutions during the transition to community based services in other words, we need to make sure that *their* rights are not being violated during this transition phase.

### So what do the themes of the QualityRights assessment tool kit cover?

### Theme 1: Adequate standard of living and social protection

Theme 1 looks at the degree to which:

- People in acute or longer term care services have appropriate and comfortable living conditions.
- People have the fundamental necessities required to live a good life, such as clean water, food, heating, clothes, as well as privacy and appropriate bedding.

- People have opportunities to communicate and be engaged with the outside world during their period of stay.
  - The CRPD requires that people with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities are provided with an adequate standard of living and protection of their social wellbeing.

<u>Theme 2: Enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health</u> Theme 2 looks at the degree to which:

- People have access to the mental health care they require.
- People have access to physical health care (especially physical health care as this is often disregarded by health/mental health staff).
- There is a focus on supporting people to recover their life and be included in their community.
  - The CRPD requires that people with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities be provided with the health services they may need and that they have access to the same range, quality and standard of free or affordable health care.

<u>Theme 3: The right to exercise legal capacity and the right to personal liberty and security of person</u> Theme 3 looks at the degree to which:

- People with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities are supported to make decisions about their own lives, such as where to live or which medical treatment to seek (as they have legal capacity).
- These decisions are not made by their families or health/mental health staff.
  - The CRPD requires that people with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities be recognized as a person before the law who have the right to exercise their legal capacity and remain at the centre when making decisions which affect their lives.
  - In order to do this, they must be given access to supported decision making processes, including the right to involve trusted people who can support them in this process.
  - Legal capacity cannot be denied on the basis of a psychosocial, intellectual disability or cognitive disability. This means that people with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities all around the world must be allowed to exercise this right on an equal basis with all others in every aspect of their life.

<u>Theme 4: Freedom from torture or cruel, inhumane or degrading treatment or punishment and from</u> <u>exploitation, violence and abuse</u>

Theme 4 looks at the degree to which:

- People are protected from physical, sexual and mental abuse.
- Practices of seclusion, physical, mechanical or chemical restraint are stopped, since these practices are not consistent with the prohibition of torture according to the CRPD.
  - The CRPD requires that all appropriate measures be taken to prevent violence, coercion and abuse from happening.

### Theme 5: The right to live independently and be included in the community

Theme 5 looks at the degree to which:

- People with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities are supported to live independently and to be full members of their community.
- Mental health and related services facilitate access to community groups, income-generating activities, housing, eligible pensions, leisure activities, and social services.
  - The CRPD states that people with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities have the right to decide where they live and to be included in their community to prevent isolation or segregation.

## Exercise 1.1: Reflecting on areas for improvement (30 min.)

The purpose of this exercise is to encourage participants in advance to identify the key challenges that will be outlined in this report.

Ask participants to split into groups of five. Each group will be asked to consider this reflective question for one of the five themes in QualityRights assessment tool kit.

This may facilitate a more positive attitude to the report when it is delivered, as it is not just a "lecture from an outsider" but a set of recommendations that they too identify with. Additional recommendations that evolve from discussions, not contained within the QualityRights assessment tool kit, may be included at the facilitator's discretion.

The rationale for splitting into groups that deal with each of the themes is to ensure that all 5 themes are given consideration from the very beginning.

Hand out to each participant the full list of themes and standards of the QualityRights assessment tool kit which were used to undertake the service assessment (Appendix 1) and copies of Appendix 2 – Reflecting on areas for improvement. This should be filled out after reflecting on the following question.

Think back to a health service that you have used and identify what was helpful, useful and made a positive difference to your life. Also consider what was neither helpful, nor useful and what would have made your experience a better one.

Based on your own experiences and knowledge of the theme within the QualityRights assessment tool kit, which areas for improvement do you think will be recommended in the assessment report of this service?

If the number of participants is 15 or less, it might be possible for each group to work on more than one theme each.

### Presentation: QualityRights assessment for the service (60 min.)

At this point go through your pre-prepared presentation of the QualityRights assessment that was undertaken at the service. All participants should now be provided with a copy of the report summary as part of this session.

- The presentation should outline how the assessment was conducted, with some focus on the constructive preparations made by the service in advance of the assessment.
- It should provide an overview of the content of the assessment report dealing with all 5 thematic areas of the QualityRights assessment.
- It should highlight both positive areas of performance highlighted by the assessment, as well as areas that require improvement. In other words, the presentation should include:
  - One slide with POSITIVE HEADLINES from the assessment.
  - Another with the MOST IMPORTANT AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT.
- In addition, the presentation should include a slide on POSITIVE STEPS ALREADY TAKEN IN RESPONSE to the assessment.
  - We are aware that these will include smaller actions such as conversations with managers or the preparations made for these training sessions.
- The aim is to create a sense that this assessment can generate a service of pride as well as an opportunity for areas to be improved.

## Exercise 1.2: Discussion on the opportunities for improvement (40 min.)

This session is designed to be an open and inclusive space for "initial reactions". This allows for participants to share their own reactions (including negative reactions) to the report prior to being asked to work with the information in a constructive manner.

In plenary, invite participants to discuss their initial reactions to the contents of the report. Make sure to include comments and views from all participants – people using the service, staff, family, care partners and others.

### What are your perspectives and feelings about the QualityRights assessment report?

This should be followed by a structured discussion led by the facilitator. Invite general comments from the group and encourage conversations between members of the training workshop.

Now ask the group the following questions:

- How do you feel about the positive areas discussed in the report?
- How do you feel about the negative aspects?
- Do you agree or disagree with the identified areas for improvement?
- Can this information be used to make improvements to how the service supports people?

As facilitator you need to be prepared to potentially answer certain questions at this point on the process of the QualityRights assessment. Any grievances on the process or content of the assessment

can be aired at this stage. Reassurance must be given that there will be space to discuss these further.

Please note that the presence of participants who strongly disagree with the identified areas of improvement might be indicative of a service culture that is reluctant to change. The importance of changing the service culture will be discussed in topic 3. However, if relevant and appropriate, these views can be addressed by the facilitator at this point in time.

### Topic 2: Defining core values and a shared vision for the service

### Presentation: The importance of having a vision based on core values (10 min.)

- An important part of the service change process is to define a vision based on a set of shared core values for the service that everyone can identify with and commit to.
- The vision should reflect how the service functions and what it aims to achieve, i.e. the overall outcome that the service is working towards. The vision usually sets high expectations for the service and is based upon a set of core values.
- The vision must be understood and shared by all members of the service. It must be broad enough to encompass a variety of perspectives from people who are using the service, staff, managers, family and care partners.
- The vision must be easy to communicate and be inspiring and uplifting in order to motivate all stakeholders within the service, impelling everyone to make their best effort in order to achieve a higher level of mental health and well-being for people.
  - For example, a vision could be "To become a service of excellence that provides holistic, recovery-oriented and high-quality services in the community in order to improve mental health and well-being for everyone".
- Core values should underlie the vision and drive all actions within the service.
  - For example, essential values include: Equality, respect, dignity, trust, confidentiality, well-being, connectedness, community care, shared understanding, participation, recovery, empowerment, hope, protection, compassion, inclusion, open-mindedness, reliability, strengths-focused, person-centred, person-driven, high quality etc.
- The key notion is that everyone in the service agrees about the importance of these core values and actively seeks to uphold these values.

## Exercise 2.1: Defining a vision and core values for the service (1 hour and 30 min.)

Defining a vision and a set of core values for the service will create a shared foundation for any future actions within the service and community.

Divide participants into groups of five and explain that they will have 45 minutes to identify a core set of values and vision for their services and write this down in the handout from Appendix 3. Emphasize that there are no right or wrong answers.

### Questions to consider when formulating a vision and values include:

- What are the outcomes that you would want for people who visit the service?
- What does this mean for what your service provides?
- What does this mean for how we deliver services?

When considering these questions it can be useful to refer to your completed copy of Appendix 2 in which you identified your own experiences about what makes a good service.

- Let us start with core values which will help also stimulate thinking about the vision.
- What core values do you believe are important for your mental health or related service? Try and describe what these values mean to you and why they are important. Consider the values presented earlier and think of other essential values. Write these down in Appendix 3.
- After writing your group's core values try to formulate a vision statement which describes how you would like to see your service function in the most ideal possible way. This should be in line with all the core values that you have identified. Also document this in Appendix 3.

After the group work, ask each group to present in plenary their 1) set of core values and 2) vision statement or any relevant phrases or themes that can help to build a shared vision statement

The facilitator should list on a flip chart 1) core values and 2) visions statements for the service or any relevant phrases, themes and statements that can be used.

The facilitator then supports the group to collectively define a shared set of values and a shared vision for the service that everyone agrees to uphold and commit to.

Examples of potential responses include:

- **Core values:** Equality, respect, dignity, trust, confidentiality, well-being, connectedness, community care, shared understanding, participation, recovery, empowerment, hope, protection, compassion, inclusion, open-mindedness, reliability, strengths-focused, person-centred, person-driven, high quality etc.
- Vision statement: Promoting mental health and well-being for everyone, recovery, reflecting compliance with human rights, upholding the notions of equality, respect and dignity, providing high-quality services etc.

### **Topic 3: Service culture and change**

## Presentation: Understanding service culture (40 min.)

This is an opportunity to explain how the service culture of a mental health or related service influences the daily practices and routines of people using the service, the staff and management. Changing service culture is fundamental to any other service reform, and for this reason it is dealt with in depth and at early on in this module.

The aim is to highlight that an unhealthy and degrading service culture leads to unhealthy and degrading actions and vice versa and that strategies are required to change certain cultures that are characterized by the use of seclusion, restraint, violence and coercion that violate human rights.

Refer to the modules *Creating mental health and related services free from coercion, violence and abuse* and *implementing strategies to end seclusion, restraint and other coercive practices in mental health and related services* for more detailed information on this topic.

### Definition of service culture

Service culture refers to the pattern of shared values, beliefs, rules and practices of the different members of a service.(2) It results from the dynamics between the different groups within the service including people using the service, mental health and other practitioners, management and other relevant people such as family and care partners.

The service culture can take on a life of its own to directly influence the daily practices of staff, people using the service and even of new members entering the service. Unfortunately, the culture is often accepted without reflection by the majority of its members as it is operated instinctively. It defines "the way we do things around here".(2)

### What influences service culture?

Service culture is influenced by artifacts (here referred to as visible factors), espoused beliefs and values (here referred to as declared service values) and basic underlying assumptions.(3) These factors are linked in an "onion" like structure as the figure below illustrates.



<u>Visible factors</u> are structures and signs of the physical, psychological or social environment. Examples include the design of the physical space, observed behaviour and interactions between people (i.e. daily practices and routines), clothing worn, modes of communication between people and the language used, as well as any statement concerning the values of the service including charters, mission statements and formal descriptions of how the service works. Visible factors can be easy to observe, but sometimes their meaning or what they represent is difficult to interpret.

<u>Declared service values</u> are what the service thinks ought to be and can for example equate with a set of core values for the service like the ones that were defined in exercise 2.1. Values are semivisible and often expressed through written or verbal modes of communication. Declared core values, for example the notion of equality, should influence the daily practices in services, but often this does not necessarily happen in practice. This contradiction occurs when the values held by people in the service are not aligned with the declared service values. Instead practices of people in the service are governed by underlying basic assumptions, for example, of inequality.(4)

<u>Basic underlying assumptions</u> are the foundation of a service's culture and strongly influence the thinking and behaviour of all its members. Often basic underlying assumptions are unconscious, taken-for-granted beliefs, ideas and attitudes which determine behaviour, perceptions, thoughts and feelings.(3) They may be positive and align well with any declared service values or they may be negative and conflict with these. For example, an underlying assumption that people with psychosocial disabilities are incapable of making decisions is a negative underlying assumption that will lead to mental health and other practitioners making all treatment and other decisions for people using the service (*visible factor*). This would then conflict with any declared value statement that the service may have around recovery and the autonomy of people using the services.

Basic underlying assumptions are usually invisible, in that they are not written down anywhere, which makes them difficult to identify and sometimes to understand. For example, staff members may not allow people who are using the service to have lunch in the same room as the staff. Service staff have administrative power and they can implement this practice (*visible factor*). However, the

staff's reasoning for this practice can be difficult to identify, since a number of different scenarios may be governing their decision:

- The practice could be a rule based on the declared values of the service about how things should be done.
- The practice could be an informal practice initiated by staff members that reflects negative underlying basic assumptions of staff members characterized by a notion of inequality between people using the service and staff.
- The practice could be an automatic one which does not reflect any rule based on formally declared values of service nor any basic underlying notions about inequality, but could be an expression of "the way we do things around here" without further critical reflection.

In all three scenarios, no matter what the reason for this practice is, staff may be unaware of the impact of their decision-making in relation to people using the service. However, it is possible to change this rule and similar practices that are not in alignment with declared service values by questioning the *values* and *basic underlying assumptions* of both the service and of all stakeholders.

As this example shows, the culture can be accepted without reflection by the majority of its members as often it is operated instinctively. It defines "the way we do things around here". Changing negative underlying assumptions held by people in the service, declared values held by the service that contribute to stigma and discrimination, and visible factors, including those leading to negative automatic and habitual practices, are required in order to move towards a positive service culture.

As already discussed the culture in the service both leads to and reflects the existing power dynamics within the service. Focused attention is needed to understand these dynamics, the reasons behind and their impact in order to improve or change the culture.

### Presentation: Power dynamics in the service culture (30 min.)

The purpose of this presentation is to help participants understand the role and impact of power dynamics within the context of service culture. Power dynamics refer to the nature of the relationships between staff, people using the service and others. Understanding and addressing these dynamics are important steps towards improving the service culture.

### What are power dynamics?

Power is the ability to influence the thoughts and behaviour of others. This often means being able to control or decide what someone can or cannot do. Power can lead to violence, exploitation, coercion, abuse and cruel and degrading treatments.

The term "power dynamics" refers to the different amounts of power people have in a given place or situation. In a mental health or related service, the staff often have more power than people using the service.(5) This is often referred to as power imbalance.

A power imbalance can be a significant barrier to the well-being of the people within the service, both for the people using the service and staff. Often people using services believe that mental

health and other practitioners can do what they want because of their position, while they themselves believe that they have little influence in their care.(6)

As a result, people using the service may feel reluctant to voice complaints of violence, coercion and abuse because of the intimidation and the power dynamics currently in place.

### An example of how power imbalances are facilitated:

Power imbalances within the service culture are facilitated through basic underlying assumptions that influence the declared values and visible factors of the service.(3) For example, in many services:

- The practices and routines of the staff are influenced by *underlying basic assumptions* of being superior to the people using the service, resulting in a power imbalance.
- As a result, staff members in the service do not have a true understanding of and commitment to treating people with equality, respect and dignity (*declared service values*).
- Staff inherently have power because they are given responsibility for providing and implementing services, rules and procedures. When the basic underlying assumptions of staff are not characterized by the notion of equality, dignity and respect, it both leads to and reflects a power imbalance in the service. This is seen in the daily practices (*visible factors*), e.g. physical division, the use of disrespectful language, seclusion and restraint. The use of uniforms and other practices carried out can reinforce the distance of staff from the people using the service unconsciously.



An unhealthy service culture with a power imbalance is further reinforced when the people using services are dependent on the staff for their wellbeing and all basic needs. Often they have no control over their situation, particularly when they are involuntarily detained.

<u>It is important to note</u> that a power imbalance can be reinforced or reduced/modified more or less unconsciously by people using the service, staff, management and others such as care partners and family. This is linked to the fact that the service culture influences the individual's thinking and behaviour by defining "the way we do things around here" without further reflection.

Refer to the modules *Creating mental health and related services free from coercion, violence and abuse* and *Implementing strategies to end seclusion, restraint and other coercive practices in mental health and related services* for more information on the impact of power dynamics in mental health and related services.

Exercise 3.1: Power dynamics at play (40 min.)

Show the participants the following video:

### Stanford Prison Experiment with Dr. Steve Taylor (7) (8:23 min.)

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oAX9b7agT9o Date accessed 04/08/2016

The Stanford Prison Experiment serves as an example of the impact of power imbalances and how an unhealthy service culture can affect how people interact and behave towards one another. A culture of violence and coercion can escalate, causing vital damage to people's mental and physical health.

The study also shows how ordinary people can engage in violent acts or behaviours when placed in unhealthy cultural environments or situations.

After having shown the video, ask participants the following questions in plenary:

- What kind of service culture did you see manifest through visible factors and declared service values?
- What basic underlying assumptions did you identify?

There are no right or wrong answers. It is difficult to identify values and basic underlying assumptions, since these are not explicitly expressed or visible.

### Potential answers include:

#### Visible factors:

- Clothing worn: the guards wear uniforms, sunglasses, nightsticks etc.
- Modes of communication: labelling of 'guards' and 'prisoners', threats, aggressive and abusive language towards the 'prisoners' etc.
- Physical space: prison cells, solitary confinement etc.
- Psychological environment: mental and physical abuse, coercion, force etc.

Declared service values:

- No healthy core values for the prison were defined when the prison was inaugurated.
- Declared values of the service related to control ('guards' were told that they are in charge "It is your prison) and an "us versus them" distinction
- The 'prisoners' were regarded as bad and deserved to be punished.

Basic underlying assumptions:

- Prisoners were thought to be inferior and dangerous
- The 'guards' believed that the 'prisoners' deserved degrading treatment because they were inferior (e.g. washing the toilets).
- The 'guards' believed that "We have to treat force with force". The 'guards' justified their behaviour by the following statement: "You are dangerous, and we have to treat you as such".
- Guards came with their own understanding of the prison as an institution and associated underlying assumptions about what happens in a prison institution empowered the 'guards' and legitimized their use of violence and abuse towards the 'prisoners'.

### After the discussion, show the following:

### What does the study teach us?

The Stanford Prison Experiment teaches us an important lesson in relation to power dynamics and the impact of service culture on how we behave towards one another.

The study serves as an example of the impact of an imbalance in power and how an unhealthy service culture can affect how people interact and behave towards one another. A culture of violence and coercion can escalate, causing vital damage to people's mental and physical health.

It important to note, that the study also shows how ordinary people can engage in violent acts or behaviours in certain environments or situations.

- Sometimes, the situations in which people are placed (i.e. the service culture) can influence their behaviour as individuals more than they think and even outweigh all their positive individual characteristics and values.
  - Basic underlying assumptions e.g. that prisoners are bad and inferior that manifest in values and visible factors facilitate this
- This is the case for everyone, whether they are staff, people using the service, managers or other relevant people, such as family and care givers.
  - e.g. the college students who were ordinary, well-functioning men transformed into new roles as 'prisoners' and 'guards' without questioning this transformation
- People's usual moral reasoning and thinking can be suspended when the culture, in which they are placed, influences their decision-making and how they behave towards each other.
- It is therefore important to assess the service culture in order to identify whether people are acting in accordance with the culture and whether the culture is consistent with the core values of equality, respect and dignity that should be embedded in any service on a daily basis.

## Exercise 3.2: What about this current service culture? (10 min.)

The aim of this plenary exercise is to encourage participants to think about how the culture in their service impacts the daily practices and routines.

By asking the following questions, the aim is to understand the degree to which the current service culture aligns with the core values and vision for the service which participants defined in exercise 2.1. In addition, it will highlight what the service culture does well and what challenges it faces.

- Think about the core values and vision for the service that were just formulated
- Do you think that the current service culture supports this ideal? If yes, why? If no, why not?

### Presentation: What challenges do we need to overcome? (8) (60 min.)

Power imbalances in an unhealthy service culture often lead to a culture which is resistant to change. Strategies for culture change need to take into account barriers that can block purposeful change:

Some of these barriers include:

- Lack of ownership
- Complexity of the service
- Lack of appropriate leadership
- Cultural diversity
- External influence

### Lack of ownership

Reactions to change by individuals or groups within the service can be negative, unpredictable and characterized by reluctance, since change often evokes a sense of loss.

Even a few individuals who are not happy with the idea of change can cause disruption, and a grouping of people reluctant to change can be very harmful to the service in any attempt to improve or change the situation.

Therefore, it is important to obtain leadership's commitment to implementing culture change, promote transparency and explain the need for culture change throughout the entire service.

In order to implement culture change, a critical mass of people in the service needs to be involved and all stakeholders need to feel a sense of ownership over the process.

- For example, defining a set of core values and a vision that is shared by all stakeholders (as was carried out in exercise 1.2) in the service is a key way of promoting ownership.
- It is necessary to collectively agree on promoting human rights. (Refer to the modules *Understanding human rights* and *Promoting human rights in mental health* that provide information on human rights and seek to build capacity to understand and promote human rights, recovery and independent living in the community).

### **Complexity of the service**

The service culture which is strongly influenced by basic underlying assumptions, is created, reproduced and embedded in many ways that manifest through values and visible factors, e.g. different practices across the physical, psychological and social environment of the service.

Therefore, it takes time to change the existing culture throughout the entire service. As part of the change process it can be helpful to discuss how to address the complexity of the service in order to making sure that planned activities for change are undertaken across the entire service.

In relation to this, the exercise of collaboratively identifying visible factors, declared service values and basic underlying assumptions can trigger new insights for everyone in the service about different aspects of the current service culture. This will be explored in exercise 3.3.

Also by *reviewing and mapping the organizational structure* of the service, everyone in the service will be able to identify the different stakeholders. This will help to ensure that all stakeholders are approached to participate in the culture change process. In addition everyone will know their own and each other's roles in the service and understand personal responsibilities.

Also setting realistic target dates and allocating responsibility for planned activities is necessary to implement the changes that are needed.

### Lack of appropriate leadership

*Promoting leadership* plays a key factor in culture change. Leadership can be defined as the process in which one engages others around them and works to achieve a common goal that is defined by a set of declared values and a vision for the service.

Two main styles of leadership are widely recognized:

- <u>Transactional leadership</u>: focused on securing people's compliance and by using material motivational factors (e.g. reward systems).
- <u>Transformational leadership</u>: focused on raising people's interest in engaging in the well-being of the service and inspire change in how people think. The end goal is to develop followers into leaders who are individual agents of positive change. This can happen by connecting people's sense of identity to the collective identity of the service; being a role model for people; challenging people to take greater ownership for their work and understanding their strengths and weaknesses in order to support them.

The two styles of leadership need to be integrated in a way that changes how people think and behave in the service, achieving a healthy power balance. For example, it can be valuable to reward staff for their compliance with new practices (transactional). However, for this strategy to be effective in the long run, people need to be engaged at a personal level and feel a connection between their individual identity and the collective identity of the service (transformational). This can be done by explaining how the practice of each staff member is crucial to how the service runs and the practices of everyone around them in the service. Highlighting the importance of how the staffs' own values of equality, respect and dignity will also influence the service and therefore should be reflected in the day-to-day running of the service. In relation to this, staff will feel a sense of ownership and commitment towards securing these core values in the service. (Refer to the modules Understanding human rights and Promoting human rights in mental health for more information on the importance of human rights in mental health and related services.

### **Cultural diversity**

A service may consist of several different subcultures. That means that there may be competing and overlapping groups of people in the service that have different basic underlying assumptions, values and behaviours. These subcultures are sometimes linked to professional identity e.g. doctors, nurses and managers, but not necessarily so, and may simply reflect differences in culture, training, experience and background.

In practice, it means that staff members might have opposing ideas about how to support people who are using the service; hence people do not receive the same and equal treatment. It is important to be open about these differences within the service and understand how people can work together in a synergistic way in order to promote a shared understanding of core values.

Both the people using services, staff, managers and other relevant people who are related to the service must be open and actively work towards a synergistic service culture. For example, in order to find a shared way of undertaking daily practices and routines, it is important to communicate with all stakeholders in order to understand how different individuals or groups of people in the service think differently about how daily practices and routines should be undertaken. In regards to this, it can be helpful to discuss the modes of communication and the language used within the service.

### **External influence**

Outside interests can sometimes work against efforts towards internal reform. For example, local or national legislation may not enforce laws to stop the use of seclusion and restraints or external stakeholders, such as organizations, may oppose the culture change.

For culture change to be successful, people in the service must view themselves as *agents of change* and be confident in the fact that they can initiate a movement of positive change.

### Scenario: Transforming service culture through peer support (9),(10)

The Institute of Mental Health in partnership with the Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust launched a project to promote a culture of recovery-focused practice through the recruitment of individuals with lived experience as peer supporters.

One of the main challenges to changing the service culture was a practical one: people using the service were completely unaware that this service existed and was available should they be interested in receiving peer support.

In addition, peer supporters had to overcome resistance to change within the service. Some staff members had anxieties that their roles would be threatened and others misunderstood the role of peer supporters. Sometimes peer supporters were seen as being "an extra pair of hands" and at other times they were seen only as being responsible for those people using the service who were the most challenging for staff.

To address these challenges, a new system was set in place requiring staff to inform people using the service about peer support and to provide them with the opportunity to meet a peer supporter. Peer supporters built strong relationships with people using the service, who said that they felt more supported and experienced a better quality of relationship with peer supporters than with other staff. Eventually, peer supporters were able to influence the team by changing underlying negative assumptions and beliefs about people using the service and the day to day practices of staff.

Peer supporters were able to overcome the initial resistance from staff to develop positive and transformative relationships and staff reported being more hopeful and willing to try new approaches in their daily work. Self-assessments completed by the executive team showed a positive shift towards a recovery-based culture. A staff member commented: "I think the benefit of having a peer supporter in the team, it reminds of why you're doing the job first and foremost. It reminds you people can get better, it almost provides you with some hope."

Overall, peer support contributed to a significant reduction in inpatient stays and a transformation of the service culture towards integrating a recovery approach at all levels of the service. One peer supporter commented: *"I think what has surprised me is the fact that in this role you can influence things more than I thought you probably could"*.



### Exercise 3.2: Identifying challenges to overcome in this service culture (40 min.)

At this point in the training, it is possible that participants might be feeling overwhelmed by the importance of changing unhealthy power dynamics and service culture. It might feel beyond their individual control. Thus, explain to participants:

- Being aware of the factors in the service that influence the culture is the first step towards changing the service culture.
- You can influence the service culture by becoming an individual agent of change through knowledge sharing, critical reflection and self-evaluation.
- A service culture can have both strengths and weaknesses that need to be discussed. It is helpful to identify both cultural factors that facilitate and factors that hinder the desired culture change.

Divide participants into groups of five. Ask participants to take their copies of Appendix 4 - Challenges to overcome in the service culture. They should fill this out and save for later when answering:

- 1) What challenges do we need to overcome in this service culture? Consider strengths and weaknesses in relation to the common challenges presented earlier:
  - a) Lack of ownership
  - b) Complexity of the service
  - c) Lack of appropriate leadership
  - d) Cultural diversity
  - e) External influence

Encourage participants to both identify positive and negative factors in relation to each factor and think of additional challenges in the service. Emphasize that there are no right or wrong answers.

Potential answers include:

### Lack of ownership:

Strengths:

- Many staff members and managers wish to take responsibility and empower each other on a daily basis to provide high-quality services

- Representatives of the people using the service are enabled to take part in and have direct influence on daily practices
- Some people feel ready and are committed to step into a leadership role

### Weaknesses:

- Some people are reluctant and do not see the point of changing practices
- There is no declared set of core values or vision for the service

### **Complexity of the service:**

Strengths:

- Some people are committed to follow target dates and engage in planned activities
- People know who to go to when they need support

#### Weaknesses:

- It can be difficult to know what one's individual role is in regards to taking the lead of initiating new activities
- Difficult to know who to ask for support when you need it in your team
- Sometimes people do things in a certain way without questioning why

### Lack of appropriate leadership:

Strengths:

- Some representatives for people using the service and some staff members easily take on an informal leadership role and seek to support others
- Some staff members and representatives of people using the service serve as excellent role models
- Most people feel a commitment to the shared vision and declared values of the service

Weaknesses:

- The daily manager(s) do not set a good example as role models
- Difficult to navigate in accordance with best practice and be an individual agent of positive change
- Some staff members do not connect their own sense of identity to the collective identity of the service resulting in incongruence between the declared and non-declared service values.

### **Cultural diversity:**

Strengths:

- The service is characterized by a high degree of diversity with people from many different backgrounds who have a wide range of expertise and experience

Weaknesses:

- The different subgroups of mental health and other practitioners do not agree on care and support plans
- A lack of effective communication about these different views result in inconsistencies in the provision of support

### **External influence:**

Strengths:

- The service has close collaboration with external stakeholders in the community
- The service has a good reputation and support in the community

Weaknesses:

- Local or national legislation working against efforts to change
- The service needs to convince key stakeholders about the necessity of changing practices

## Exercise

## *Exercise* 3.3: Understanding visible factors, values and basic underlying assumptions in this service culture (60 min.)

Ask participants to stay in the same groups as they were in for the last exercise and find their copies of Appendix 5 – *Analysing visible factors, values and basic underlying assumptions in this service culture. Complete* this form when answering the following question and <u>save for later</u>:

1) Within the service culture, identify strengths and weaknesses in relation to visible factors

### Question to consider:

- How are we doing things in the service? Think of strengths and weaknesses in relation to physical space, clothing worn, modes of communication, role hierarchy etc.

### Potential examples of strengths and weaknesses in relation to visible factors include:

Strengths:

- Physical space: the physical division between people using the service and staff is structured in a way so that people using the service and staff are together in a common room when having lunch.
- Clothing worn: staff and people using the service do not wear different clothing, except when necessary for sanitary or other reasons.
- Modes of communication: respectful and recovery-oriented person-first language is being used and staff and people using the service regularly talk about this issue.
- Role hierarchy: representatives for people using the service promote equality by collaborating closely with the staff and management and give their advice on the daily practices and routines.

Weaknesses:

- Physical space: the physical division between people using the service and staff is structured in a way, so people using the service and staff do not spend time together, e.g. solitary confinement, divided dining halls etc.
- Clothing worn: staff and people using the service wear different clothing, and people using the service all have to wear the same clothes
- Modes of communication: degrading and stigmatizing language by staff and managers when talking to and about the people using the service and vice versa
- Role hierarchy: there are no representatives of people using the service; hence the people using the service have little influence on the daily practices and routines.
- 2) Discuss whether the declared core values of the service align with basic underlying assumptions of the different members of the service culture

### **Questions to consider:**

- Recall exercise 2.1: What are the declared values of the service?

- Think about how these core values are actively demonstrated in the daily practices and routines of the service that were just described (visible factors). For example, the use of a respectful and recovery-oriented language promotes equality, respect and dignity.
- Are these declared values in alignment with the service members' basic underlying assumptions and ultimately peoples' actions towards each other?
- Must something about "the way we do things around here" be addressed?

### Potential answers:

- The list of declared service values and the vision of the service are well-known in the service and people seek to adhere to these in the daily practices, e.g.:
  - The staff has a high sense of commitment to treating each other and people using the service with respect and dignity and supporting in their recovery
  - The staff do not want to use seclusion, restraint and coercion because these practices are degrading and constitute human rights violations
- List of declared values of how the service should work are not always practiced. Many practices are in conflict with the values of the service that were formulated in exercise 1.2 and are influenced instead by negative underlying assumptions held by many people in the service.
  - Subgroups in the team of mental health and other practitioners differ in their views on how to support the people using the service resulting in inconsistent practices in the service, e.g. nurses and psychiatrists have diverse views on how to best manage challenging situations, i.e. through active listening and dialogue or using the seclusion room
  - Notions of inequality between people who are using the service and staff, e.g. people using the service and staff cannot stay in the same room, people should wear different clothing or degrading and stigmatizing language
  - Notions that the people using the service cannot recover, e.g. staff do not seek to support people using the service in connecting with services in the community such as education and job training opportunities that can help them in their recovery
  - Notions about the use of seclusion, restraint and coercion being legitimate

In plenary, ask each group to present their views in relation to the questions and share personal experiences. Remind participants to save the completed appendix 5 for later.
## Presentation: How to be an individual agent of change (10 min.)

In continuation of the previous exercise, the aim of this presentation is to show participants that action can be taken collaboratively in the service and also as an individual agent of change on a daily basis.

#### Quote:

"Sometimes I'm skeptical about how much I'm impacting the organizational culture. There's so much that needs changing! But then I'll take a step back and see that the language is changing. The way people are talking about hearing voices and self-harm is changing. I think I'm really making a difference here. It's what keeps me going." – Peer supporter, US (11)

- On a daily basis, we can influence the service culture by questioning visible factors, values and basic underlying assumptions and encourage each other towards taking ownership and responsibility for everyone's well-being.
- The following steps can be taken by every person in the service:
  - Share your knowledge and experiences, critically reflect and self-evaluate
  - Try and question visible factors, values and basic underlying assumptions
    - E.g. consider how people talk to each other (refer to the *Preliminary note on language* in the introduction of this module for examples)
    - E.g. does the service live up to its declared values?
    - E.g. are there any unhealthy basic underlying assumptions about the way to do things that are not in alignment with the core declared service values?
    - Do something about it when you feel that something is not right
- It is important to remember that culture change and quality improvement takes time.

Emphasize that culture change is difficult and takes time. The process of culture change can face many different barriers, including people who are reluctant to change.

Explain to participants that, in particular, if you as an individual feel alone with your worries, whether you are a person who are using or have previously used the service, a staff member, a manager, a care giver or a family member, it can be difficult to navigate and know what to do. Try to join up with others who have similar points of views or challenge the views of others.

Topic 4: Specific priorities for change in the service based on the QualityRights assessment tool kit

## Presentation: Priorities for change (10 min.)

In the previous topic, we discussed service culture and the importance of changing the service culture to promote well-being for everyone in the service. This is an immediate priority and a prerequisite for any other change.

In this topic, we will now look at other specific changes or areas of improvement that can be made based on the QualityRights assessment. First, it is important to distinguish between immediate and mid- and longer term priorities. Not everything can be done at once.

This is an opportunity to discuss what standards from the QualityRights assessment are priorities to act on immediately and what standards require mid- and longer-term action. Ask participants to fill out their copies of Appendix 6 – *Priorities for change*.

In particular, draw attention to the perspectives of people using the service.

#### **Qualities of an immediate priority:**

- Poor performance on the standard can be dangerous for people using the service
- Poor performance on the standard can lead to the deterioration of physical and mental health
- Poor performance on the standard can have a negative impact on the majority of people using the service
- Poor performance on the standard results in people wanting to leave and stops others from using the service

#### Qualities of a mid- or longer term priority:

- Improvement on the standard will be an important change to the service, but does not impact the safety of people using the service
- Improvement on the standard will affect a minority of the people we serve
- Improvement on the standard can only be acted on when priority standards have been addressed
- Improvement on the standard may help to reach more people, but is not a barrier stopping them from using the service



During this exercise, participants will discuss priority areas for action for the service based on the assessment report.

Before the group discussion, emphasize that what participants identify as priorities will feed into the improvement plan and therefore directly influence the process. By informing them of this, participants will realize how important their role is in improving the service.

The question for now is what are the priorities – what needs to be improved? At a later stage when the key priority issues have been identified, the question will become *how can we address these priorities given the resources that we have or likely to obtain.* 

Ask participants to break up into several small discussion groups of five people. Once they have settled into their groups, ask them to complete the following:

In your groups, use the summary report of the QualityRights assessment to:

- Identify the standards within each theme that you consider to be immediate priority areas requiring action (please identify a minimum of 3 per theme)
- Identify other standards within each theme which you consider to be mid- and longer term priorities

It is important to understand that the aim of the exercise is to identify priorities on what is "right" and appropriate according to QualityRights standards. Avoid letting issues of resource availability influence your priority setting. This is a separate issue that needs to be considered later.

Use the guidance for selecting immediate and longer term priorities (Appendix 6 – *Priorities for change*).

After the discussions, the groups will come together and one member from each group will present the standards identified as priorities for each theme and explain why they chose these.

After each group presents, you should encourage discussion in plenary as to whether people agree or disagree with these immediate and mid- or longer term priorities.



After the plenary discussion, work with participants to prepare a list of priority areas for change focusing on the immediate priorities only. Using the flip chart, compile the following in plenary:

• A master list of DEFINITIVE PRIORITIES of standards requiring improvement (priorities all groups agree with)

#### • POTENTIAL PRIORITIES of standards for improvement (that may warrant further discussion).

If the participants do not reach a consensus on the definitive priorities, it is possible to conduct a majority vote on what the definitive priorities should be.

This initial priority list of standards for improvement that has been collaboratively compiled by the group can provide the foundation for the action areas of the improvement plan. This list should be recorded and stored somewhere safe and accessible for future use in meetings as part of the improvement plan process.

It is important to emphasize to participants that the list of priority standards for improvement will be actively used in their daily work of the service. Therefore, highlighting the input from all participants and stakeholders is crucial in order for the improvement plan to be successful.

#### Topic 5: From problems to solutions and from action to impact

# Exercise 5.1: How can this service improve? (50 min.)

#### Ask participants the following:

#### Think about what this service can do to improve on the QualityRights standards.

On the basis of their experiences, participants will come up with great ideas. Write the ideas on a flipchart. In the following, the key is to put these ideas into a structured framework for improvement.

Presentation: Moving from problems to solutions (60 min.)

At this point there will be a session on moving from the problems identified to the solutions generated. The process we are describing is summarized by the flow chart below.

As a facilitator you should explore each stage included in the flow chart with participants. The ideas behind each stage (noted on the PowerPoint) will be explained and then followed by examples to reinforce how a change and improvement plan works.

Please note that issues around blame and institutional barriers to change including political will, lack of funds and resources need to be acknowledged and openly discussed. However, this discussion should be contained and focused on how people can move forward in a positive way. Ways that take account of existing resources and require creativity and becoming agents of change.

#### **FLOW CHART**

This flow chart (below) shows each step in the process of solving the areas of improvement identified during the QualityRights assessment:

- Prior to initiating the QualityRights improvement plan, ensure that all stakeholders participate. This includes people who are using or have previously used the service, staff, management and other relevant people such as care givers and family. Directly involve senior management and make sure than an oversight committee oversees the implementation process, including representatives of people who are using or have previously used the service.
- In the first step of the improvement process, it is important to identify the problems and prioritize the areas of improvement.
- The next step is to develop a strategy in order to address the areas of improvement. These should reflect the vision and core values of the service.

- For each strategy it is important to decide on the activities that will be initiated, set target dates and assign responsibility to various people for completing these in order to implement the strategy.
- After this the impact of the strategy in addressing the problems or gaps should be evaluated.
- Finally, a follow-up review session should use the results of the evaluation to inform changes to the strategies for improvement currently in place.



#### **ROBLEMS & PRIORITIZATION:**

- The first stage for improving services is the identification of problems based on performance on the standards of the QualityRights assessment.
- These problems must be prioritized and then addressed in order of the most pressing issues first. Having said that, sometimes there is an argument to be made for changing something that is easier rather than most pressing, simply because it might be what leads people to having more credibility, power and reach to be able to make future substantial changes.
- This process of prioritization starts today.

#### Illustrative example



- In their QualityRights assessment, this service identified that they were not fulfilling standard 4.2 regarding seclusion and restraint.
- People who are using or have previously used the service and the staff met in plenary (like us today) and decided this was an immediate priority that needed to be improved.

#### **DEVELOPING STRATEGIES:**

- Forming a strategy will help everyone think about problems in a critical way.
- As a group, and with the participation of all relevant stakeholders, it is possible to get to the core of the area of improvement and find potential solutions.
- This makes the planned activities more effective. It is important to think broadly about potential solutions.
- Not all problems can be solved by training. Many problems will require multiple solutions including policy and legislation, protocols, attitude and culture change, developing new skills, financial investment, additional human resources and training and support from senior management.

#### Questions to consider:

- What is the source of the challenge?
- What needs to be done to solve this challenge?
- What resources do we have?
- Who needs to be involved in dealing with this challenge? (Need to consider whether this is something that staff take primary responsibility for or will it require the leadership of people using the service or other groups?)
- Do others in the service agree that this is a priority challenge? If they do not, then we need to better communicate why this is an important area to address.
- Do we need to create a working group that will be dedicated to finding solutions?

#### Illustrative example

#### **DEVELOPING STRATEGIES**

Train all staff in methods of deescalation to end the practice of seclusion and restraint

• The practices of seclusion and restraint constitute human rights violations and contradict the vision and core values of the service. Thus, it was decided to eliminate seclusion and restraint in the inpatient service.

- Lack of knowledge and skills for de-escalation was cited as important reasons for the practice of seclusion and restraint continuing.
- All service staff are involved in the practice of seclusion and restraint and therefore need to be trained.
- A budget to run a series of training workshops with external trainers was identified
- When the issue of seclusion and restraints was discussed, it became clear that the majority of staff felt ambivalent and distressed when they used restraints on others or put people into seclusion. They were under the belief that this was the only option in challenging situations.
- The staff reported many occasions when these practices resulted in a breakdown of trust between staff and people using the services.
- There was widespread agreement that ending this practice would be beneficial for people using the services and staff.
- The head of nursing was concerned that without seclusion and restraint her staff would be more at risk. She met with management and attended extra training on de-escalation techniques. She is now supportive of the plan.
- A working group was set up to monitor how often seclusion and restraint was used. After each incident, they met with the staff involved to discuss use of de-escalation techniques.

The modules *Creating mental health and related services free from coercion, violence and abuse* and *Implementing strategies to end seclusion, restraint and other coercive practices in mental health and related services* provide more information on seclusion, restraint and other coercive practices within mental health and related services and how to change these practices.

#### **ACTIVITIES & RESPONSIBILITIES**

- A planned activity is a specific response to a problem that can help achieve the strategy that the team believes will be most effective to get positive results.
- Planning these activities, rather than just simply responding immediately, gives structure to how the team approaches the challenge.
- This way the team understands that there is a clear plan of action that will be followed in order to implement the strategy and have impact.
- By carefully allocating responsibility for each planned activity to an individual or group of people, which also includes people who are using or have previously used the service or others, everyone knows who is in charge of making sure that the activity or activities are completed.
- All activities should have target dates for completion.
- With the specific activities and related responsible persons, the working group and service management team can more easily monitor progress on the implementation of the strategy.

#### Illustrative example

ACTIVITIES & RESPONSIBILITIES to end seclusion & restraint were planned and conducted including inter-service informational events

(solution

- The working group met and decided on their response to the area of improvement.
- All activities planned were aligned with the strategy agreed to by the people using the service, staff and the management.
- All activities were listed, in the following template, with named individuals and target dates.

		Timeframe including	Responsible person(s)	Budget
<b>Standard 4.2</b> . Alternative methods are used in place of seclusion and restraint as means of de-escalating potential crises				
Strategy 1 Train all staf	f on methods of de-escalation and end the practice of seclusion and restraint			
Activity 1	<ul> <li>Provide training workshop:</li> <li>Arrange workshop to train people who are using the service and staff about the recovery approach and techniques to eliminate the use of seclusion and restraint. Explain that seclusion and restraint constitute human rights violations and must be eliminated.</li> <li>(Refer to the modules Understanding human rights and Promoting human rights in mental health)</li> </ul>	2 weeks	Dr A. and peer supporter A	Part of regular service budget for training
Activity 2	Create personal templates for people using the service: Creation of templates for people using the service on how to manage triggers that may lead to challenging behaviour or crises. The templates are developed with the person and can be used as part of a recovery plan.	4 weeks	Service manager, clinical lead and representative for people using the service	0
Activity 3	Develop policy for responding to crisis situations:This policy should include immediate follow-up meetings with the people experiencing the crisis in order to evaluate how the crisis was handled and potentially restructure the template.	1 week	Service manager and clinical lead	0
Activity 4	<b>Develop individualized plans for staff:</b> Staff develop individualized plans for managing their own triggers for frustration and tension in order to avoid using seclusion and restraint.	3 weeks	QualityRights Champion and each staff member	0
Activity 5	Monitoring and evaluation: Monitor number of times seclusion/restraint is used immediately and then on an ongoing basis (indicators of performance). Staff also asked to report on the reasons for each and to explore alternative methods.	Immediate and ongoing	Chair of working group	0
Activity 6	Development of 'open door' comfort room and closing of seclusion room	3 weeks	Dr B (Dept. Health) and peer supporter B	Small budget
Activity 7	Inter-service informational events: Planning a schedule and place for these where staff and people using the service can share knowledge and experiences on de-escalation techniques, critically reflect and self-evaluate. This will sharpen people's understanding of how to deal with ethical and value-based challenges that arise on a daily basis.	Regularly	Manager	0

World Health Organization - Implementing improvement plans for service change WHO QualityRights training to act, unite and empower in mental health

#### **EVALUATION OF IMPACT**

- When making an improvement plan the team should consider what positive impact they are hoping to achieve and to think about ways of monitoring this. Impact for people using the service as well as staff should be monitored.
- Central to this process is the selection of indicators of performance.
- Impact may occur immediately after the planned activities have started or at a later point in time.
- In addition to monitoring indicators of performance, an important way to assess impact is to repeat the QualityRights assessment after a period of time.
- This will allow the evaluation of change to occur in a strategic and planned way.

It is also important to consider that there may be negative impacts from improvement plans.

#### Illustrative example

EVALUATION OF IMPACT through the process and outcome indicators of performance and assessment

- Process indicators of performance included the number of staff trained and the number of activities successfully implemented. The main outcome indicator was the number of episodes of seclusion and restraint.
- The results showed that the strategy to end the use of seclusion and restraints was successful in reducing seclusion and restraint rates which was the main outcome indicator. Over 90 % of staff were trained and 80 % of the planned activities were implemented:
  - Service staff now feels more confident in using de-escalating techniques after the training they received. They also feel better able to manage their own triggers for frustration.
  - Identifying triggers for both people using the service and staff in addition to follow-up meetings after crisis episodes has reduced the overall number of crisis scenarios.
  - Even before the comfort room was opened, the number of occasions when seclusion and restraints were used had already decreased.
  - The trust that people using the service had in staff increased based on a survey undertaken.
  - At the inter-service informational events, everyone has been able to meet and share knowledge, critically reflect and self-evaluate on the improvement process.

#### FOLLOW-UP ON STRATEGIC ACTION

- It is important to ensure that the quality improvement process is embedded in the daily work of the service and that all stakeholders have a sense of ownership and responsibility.
- The outcomes of the implementation process should be presented to the appointed oversight committee of the service.
- A 2-page brief/memo should be prepared describing the initial situation in the service, the process of identifying solutions and the impact of implementation. The brief/memo should be presented to relevant stakeholders, including governmental institutions, in order to disseminate the findings and promote policy and legislative action to further create sustainable change.

#### Illustrative example

#### FOLLOW-UP ON STRATEGIC ACTION:

Use outcome of evaluation to improve strategic action in the service and at policy level

- People who are using or have previously used the service, staff and management were on board from the beginning and were assigned clear roles and responsibilities.
- The plan and preliminary outcome was presented to the appointed oversight committee which had closely followed the process and when necessary provided support and guidance.
- An approval brief/memo was created and (with the improvement plan attached) presented to external stakeholders, both non-governmental organizations and advocacy groups as well as governmental institutions, in order to push for policy and legislative action to end seclusion and restraint throughout the country.

Explain to participants that this concrete example of how to end seclusion, restraint and coercion also demonstrates that any change or improvement initiated, no matter what or how specific or concrete, will require a change in the service culture.

- This illustrative improvement plan serves as an example of how a change in service culture is an evitable part of any implementation plan process.
- In this case, many factors affecting service culture were addressed through the implementation of the strategy to reduce seclusion and restraint:
  - Visible factors: Training people in the recovery approach and new techniques to end the use of seclusion and restraint; opening of an open door comfort room for people using the service and staff in order to create an atmosphere of trust; developing personal templates for people using the service and for staff on how to manage triggers in addition to an official policy on how to respond to crisis with follow-up meetings etc.
  - Values: The vision and set of core values for the service were re-introduced to allow discussion, foster inclusion and trust and underline new practices. The inter-service informational events facilitated an open and non-judgmental space for everyone to share knowledge and experiences, critically reflect and self-evaluate on their own values in relation to the core values and vision of the service.
  - Basic underlying assumptions: More fundamentally, the view that the use of seclusion and restraint is necessary was challenged. It was discovered that the staff do not feel comfortable using seclusion and wish to end this practice. This realization generated a movement for change and introducing new practices such as the comfort room.
- Given that service culture is so fundamentally important to all services, this will now be addressed in the following exercise.

# Exercise 5.2: Improvement plan for changing the service culture (90 min.)

The purpose of this plenary exercise is to develop a comprehensive strategy for service culture change using the previously presented flow chart together with the information and discussions from Topic 3 on culture change (Appendix 4 and 5).

• Take a copy of annex 7 – *Improvement plan template for service culture change*. We will now fill out this template as we work through the flow chart steps in plenary.

Throughout the exercise, the facilitator writes down the answers in relation to each stage of the flow chart on a flipchart while participants are encouraged to fill out their own templates accordingly.

#### Show the following:

In order to plan the change in the service culture, we will work through the steps in the flowchart.



World Health Organization - Implementing improvement plans for service change WHO QualityRights training to act, unite and empower in mental health

#### **PROBLEMS AND PRIORITIZATION:**

- As discussed earlier, it is important to ensure that all stakeholders are engaged in the process of changing the service culture. The working group should include senior management, people using the service, staff, care partners, family and other relevant stakeholders.
- First, it is important to understand the current service culture or the way things are now and also identify the main problems faced by the service.
- Next, we must prioritize what needs to change first and foremost. This may be the notion of inequality between people using the service and staff or something completely different.

#### Questions to consider:

Try and recall the service vision, and set of core values (exercise 2.1) that we established earlier. Take out your completed forms of appendix 3, 4 and 5 and recall identified challenges to overcome for this service including visible factors, values and basic underlying assumptions.

Based on these:

- What do you think are immediate and mid- and longer term priorities for change?
- Choose one immediate priority for change that you wish to carry out in this improvement plan for service culture change.

#### **DEVELOPING STRATEGIES:**

• Next, we need to identify a set of strategies to meet the challenge in the current service culture.

#### Questions to consider:

- What is the source of the challenge?
- Who needs to be involved in dealing with this challenge?
- Do others in the service agree that this is a priority challenge? If they do not, then we need to better communicate why this is an important area to address.
- What resources do we have?

#### **ACTIVITIES & RESPONSIBILITIES:**

• It can be difficult to create change when people need to unlearn old ways of doing things in order to learn new ones. It is important to collaboratively define a range of activities that can be carried out to create positive culture change, set clear target dates and allocate responsibility.

#### Questions to consider:

- What activities can be carried out to meet the prioritized challenge?
- What are target dates and should be allocated responsibility for carrying out the activities?
- How do we work through each challenge?

Give participants time to explain whether or not they think planned activities or target dates are realistic and how to overcome potential challenges. Encourage participants to be as concrete as possible when formulating suggestions for activities.

#### **EVLUATION OF IMPACT:**

- Changing the service culture takes time.
- The process of service culture change should be monitored on an on-going basis and evaluated by a set of pre-defined indicators of performance. The team should assess how the culture change is coming along by including both positive and potentially negative outcomes in the evaluation.

#### **Questions to consider:**

- How do we monitor the outcomes of change for this specific challenge?
- How do we make sure to address potential positive and negative outcomes?

#### Possible indicators of performance might include:

- Number of staff trained in core values promoting human rights and recovery
- Number of staff members who have received leadership training
- Qualitative outcomes from inter-service informational events
- Qualitative evaluation from surveys and/or interviews with stakeholders

#### FOLLOW-UP:

- In this final step of the process, it is important to ensure that the culture change is embedded in the daily practices and that all stakeholders have a sense of ownership and responsibility.
- The preliminary outcomes of the culture change could be presented to everyone in the service and external stakeholders in order to push for policy and legislative action in the community promoting human rights.

#### Questions to consider:

- How can we make sure that the culture change is embedded in the daily practices?
- How do we foster a sense of ownership and responsibility in all stakeholders?
- If necessary, on the basis of preliminary outcomes: How do we re-adapt our strategy?
- How do we promote policy and legislative action in the community?

By now, it should be clear how the flowchart can be applied when preparing and implementing a service change, respectively in an identified area of improvement and in the service culture.

Ask participants if they have any questions and move on to the next exercise.



#### Exercise 5.3: Our own examples (2 hours)

By now, it is time for the participants to work in small groups of five to develop a strategy and plan activities for an area of improvement identified in the QualityRights assessment.

By working on their own, the purpose is to highlight how an identified area of improvement in their own service can be implemented in practice by using the flow chart presented earlier.

Hard copies of presentation *Moving from problems to solutions* are handed out to each of the groups. Each group will be allocated an area for improvement that that was identified in exercise 4.2:

- Inform the groups that you will now be using the flow chart model to address another of the areas for improvement that has been identified in the QualityRights assessment of this service.
- Each group will have a copy of the template to complete (Appendix 7).
- The groups will then present in plenary for the whole group to comment and engage in discussion.
- The facilitator will guide the discussion in the room by going through the steps outlined under each section in the presentation *Moving from problems to solutions.*

- It is important to challenge the ideas that are brought forward.
  - Ask the group whether or not they think planned activities and target dates are realistic?
  - What challenges do they predict when dealing with this issue?

This process is repeated for one example of each of the 5 themes and then for as many areas for improvement as is possible to complete during the workshop session(s). Hand out copies of Annex 7 - *Improvement plan template for each priority strategy identified.* 

#### **Topic 6: Moving forward**

### Presentation: Working groups & QualityRights Champions (15 min.)

- Finally, the scene should be set for the future work that is required of the service. This includes:
  - Completing the work on the improvement plan if this has not yet been completed through the workshops. See in Appendix 7 below.
  - Monitoring the implementation of the improvement plan for each of the themes.
  - Planning inter-service informational events in order to create on-going knowledge sharing, critical reflection and self-evaluation of the improvement process (see box below)
- Participants will have an opportunity to form into working groups on each theme. These can be allocated by the service manager or preferably people elect themselves to participate in the working group which they are most interested in.
- Working groups should be encouraged to be mixed groups when possible and appropriate. This will not always be the case (see *Guidance for facilitators*). They should involve people using the service, staff (including mental health and other practitioners in addition to attendants, cleaning, cooking, maintenance staff), management and also family members and care partners where possible.
- QualityRights Champion(s) can be appointed to oversee the progress of each working group. QualityRights Champions are people identified in the service, including people using the service, peer supporters and/or staff, who have demonstrated their willingness, interest, motivation and commitment to quality and human rights improvements. QualityRights Champions are selected on the basis of their capacity to influence others, have a long-term commitment to the service. NB: People who are using or have previously used the service should be remunerated for extra time or resources incurred as a function of taking up this role.
- Set clear target dates for establishment of the working group and for carrying out of their work.

#### Inter-service informational events

- ✓ The management needs to create a safe space for knowledge sharing, critical reflection and self-evaluation which strengthens the awareness of appropriate and less appropriate practices and routines in the daily work of the service.
- In relation to this, the inputs of people who are using or have previously used the service are of particular importance.
- This will provide people who are using or have previously used the service as well as staff with an opportunity to express their personal views about the on-going process and be able to exchange positive and negative experiences during the process.
- ✓ Sharing of knowledge, critical reflection and self-evaluation will support a service culture of empathy and ethical behaviour based on a notion of equality and respect.
- ✓ This can lead to a restructuring of the strategies currently in place.
- ✓ The idea behind this is that motivation tends to be higher when everyone views the process as enriching, and gains a sense of ownership and commitment to being agents of change.



Ask participants the following questions in plenary and make sure to get as many different views from various stakeholders as possible:

- What are the 3 key points that you have learned from this training?
- Do you feel that you have the tools required to further develop the service improvement plan?

#### Then show the following take home points:

#### Initiating an improvement plan

- The QualityRights assessment tool kit has been designed to support services to assess and improve the quality of care and compliance with human rights standards and is based around 5 themes.
- An improvement plan is a way to address problems and challenges identified through the QualityRights assessment.
- Prior to initiating an improvement plan, involving senior management and an oversight committee is necessary. The participation of all stakeholders is crucial.
- Problems/areas of improvement need to be identified and prioritized.
- An improvement plan requires strategies that assess and respond to challenges in a critical way.
- Positive impacts can be achieved with planned activities facilitated by responsible people.
- Indicators of performance can be used to monitor and evaluate the impact of the plan.
- In a follow-up session, the preliminary and expected outcomes are shared also with external stakeholders. Possibly, the strategy has to be restructured when moving forward.
- When initiating an improvement plan, the culture and power dynamics of the service must be addressed. The service culture influences the dynamics between the people using the service, staff, management and other relevant people such as family and care givers.
- The notion of equality, respect and dignity between people using the service, staff and others must be included as the core values and should be embedded in the service culture.
- In collaboration, an unhealthy service culture and the daily practices within the service can be changed.
- In relation to this, we can all be individual agents of positive change on a daily basis.

## Annexes

### Annex 1: Themes and standards of the WHO QualityRights Tool Kit

## Theme 1. The right to an adequate standard of living (Article 28 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD))

Standard 1.1	The building is in good physical condition.
Standard 1.2	The sleeping conditions of service users are comfortable and allow sufficient privacy.
Standard 1.3	The service meets hygiene and sanitary requirements.
Standard 1.4	Service users are given food, safe drinking-water and clothing that meet their needs and preferences.
Standard 1.5	Service users can communicate freely, and their right to privacy is respected.
Standard 1.6	The service provides a welcoming, comfortable, stimulating environment conducive to active participation and interaction.
Standard 1.7	Service users can enjoy fulfilling social and personal lives and remain engaged in community life and activities.

## Theme 2. The right to enjoyment of the highest attainable standards of physical and mental health (Article 25 of the CRPD)

- Standard 2.1 Services are available to everyone who requires treatment and support.
- Standard 2.2 The service has skilled staff and provides good-quality mental health services.
- Standard 2.3 Treatment, psychosocial rehabilitation and links to support networks and other services are elements of a service user-driven recovery plan and contribute to a service user's ability to live independently in the community.
- Standard 2.4 Psychotropic medication is available, affordable and used appropriately.
- Standard 2.5 Adequate services are available for general and reproductive health.

## Theme 3. The right to exercise legal capacity and the right to personal liberty and the security of person (Articles 12 and 14 of the CRPD)

- Standard 3.1 Service users' preferences regarding the place and form of treatment are always a priority.
- Standard 3.2 Procedures and safeguards are in place to prevent detention and treatment without free and informed consent.
- Standard 3.3 Service users can exercise their legal capacity and are given the support they may require to exercise their legal capacity.
- Standard 3.4 Service users have the right to confidentiality and access to their personal health information.

## Theme 4. Freedom from torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment and from exploitation, violence and abuse (Articles 15 and 16 of the CRPD)

- Standard 4.1 Service users have the right to be free from verbal, mental, physical and sexual abuse and physical and emotional neglect.
- Standard 4.2 Alternative methods are used in place of seclusion and restraint as means of deescalating potential crises.
- Standard 4.3 Electroconvulsive therapy, psychosurgery and other medical procedures that may have permanent or irreversible effects, whether performed at the service or referred to another service, must not be abused and can be administered only with the free and informed consent of the service user.
- Standard 4.4 No service user is subjected to medical or scientific experimentation without his or her informed consent.
- Standard 4.5 Safeguards are in place to prevent torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment and other forms of ill-treatment and abuse.

## Theme 5. The right to live independently and be included in the community (Article 19 of the CRPD)

- Standard 5.1 Service users are supported in gaining access to a place to live and have the financial resources necessary to live in the community.
- Standard 5.2 Service users can access education and employment opportunities.
- Standard 5.3 The right of service users to participate in political and public life and to exercise freedom of association is supported.
- Standard 5.4 Service users are supported in taking part in social, cultural, religious and leisure activities.

### **Annex 2: Reflecting on areas of improvement**



Think back to a health service that you have used and identify what was helpful, useful and made a positive difference. Also consider what was neither helpful, nor useful and what would have made your experience a better one.

Based on your own experiences and knowledge of the theme within the QualityRights assessment tool kit, which areas for improvement do you think will be recommended in the assessment report of this service?

World Health Organization - Implementing improvement plans for service change WHO QualityRights training to act, unite and empower in mental health

### Annex 3: Defining core values and a vision for the service

*Questions to consider when formulating a set of core values and a vision statement:* 

- What are the outcomes that you would want for people who visit the service?
- What does this mean for what our service provides?
- What does this mean for how we deliver the services?

When considering these questions it can be useful to refer to your completed copy of Appendix 2 in which you identified your own experiences about what makes a good service.

What values do you believe are important for a mental health or related service? *Consider the values presented earlier and think of other essential values* 

Try to formulate a vision which eventually should describe how you would like to see your service function in the most ideal possible way. This should be in line with all the core values that you have identified as the most important to promote.

L
L
L
L

## **Annex 4: Challenges to overcome in the service culture**

Challenges	Strengths	Weaknesses
Lack of ownership		
Complexity of the service		
Lack of appropriate leadership		
Cultural diversity		
External influence		

## Annex 5: Analysis of visible factors, values and basic underlying assumptions in the service culture

#### 1) Within the service culture, identify strengths and weaknesses in relation to visible factors

Questions to consider:

- How are we doing things in the service? Think of strengths and weaknesses in relation to e.g. physical space, clothing worn, modes of communication, role hierarchy, official practices etc.

Strengths	Weaknesses

# 2) Discuss whether the declared values of the service are in alignment with the undeclared values/basic underlying assumptions of the different members of the service culture

Questions to consider:

- Recall exercise 2.1: What are the declared values of the service?
- Think about how these core values are actively demonstrated in the daily practices and routines of the service that were just described (visible factors). For example, the use of a respectful and recovery-oriented language promotes equality, respect and dignity.
- Are these declared service values in alignment with the service members' own non-declared values/basic underlying assumptions and ultimately peoples' actions towards each other?
- Must something about "the way we do things around here" be addressed?

## **Appendix 6: Priorities for change**

#### **Qualities of an immediate priority:**

- Poor performance on the standard can be dangerous for people using the service
- Poor performance on the standard can lead to the deterioration of physical and mental health
- Poor performance on the standard can have a negative impact on the majority of people using the service
- Poor performance on the standard results in people wanting to leave and stops others from using the service

	Themes				
Practice	1	2	3	4	5
1					
2					
3					

#### Qualities of a mid- or longer term priority:

- Improvement on the standard will be an important change to the service, but does not impact the safety of people using the service
- Improvement on the standard will affect a minority of the people we serve
- Improvement on the standard can only be acted on when priority standards have been addressed
- Improvement on the standard may help to reach more people, but is not a barrier stopping them from using the service

Themes				
1	2	3	4	5
	1			

### Annex 7: Improvement plan template for each priority strategy identified

\*this template can be copy/pasted for each separate strategy of the improvement plan incl. culture change

Area for improvement:	ovement: Timeframe Responsible person(s)		Budget
	including		
	target dates		
Strategy 1			
Activity 1			
Activity 2			
Activity 3			
Activity 4			
Activity 5			

## References

- World Health Organization (WHO). WHO QualityRights tool kit to assess and improve quality and human rights in mental health and social care facilities [online publication]. Geneva; WHO; 2012. (Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/70927/3/9789241548410\_eng.pdf?ua=1</u>, accessed 2 February 2017).
- Banaszak-Holl J, Nembhard IME, Taylor L, Bradley EH. Chapter 2: Leadership and management: a framework for action. In: Burns L, Bradley E, Weiner B, editors. Shortell and Kaluzny's Healthcare management: organization design and behavior. New York, NY: Delmar Cengage Learning; 2011. p. 46.
- Schein EH. Organisational Culture and Leadership, 4th Edition. San Francisco, SF: Josey-Bass; 2010. p. 23-33.
- 4. Shortell and Kaluzny's Healthcare management: organization design and behavior. Burns L, Bradley E, Weiner B, editors. New York, NY: Delmar Cengage Learning; 2011.
- 5. Cox L. Cultural safety and diversity: Refocusing our energies in mental health nursing practice, education and research. Refocusing our energies in mental health nursing practice, education and research. In Australian College of Mental Health Nursing 41st International Mental Health Nursing Conference Mental Health Nurses: Shifting Culture, Leading Change. International Journal of Mental Health Nursing. 2015;24:1-49. Epub 24 September 2015. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12172.
- Farrelly S, Lester H, Rose D, Birchwood M, Marshall M, Waheed W, et al. Barriers to shared decision making in mental health care: qualitative study of the Joint Crisis Plan for psychosis. Health Expect. 2015;19:448-58. Epub 27 April 2015. doi: <a href="http://www.dx.doi.org/10.1111/hex.12368">http://www.dx.doi.org/10.1111/hex.12368</a>.
- Taylor S. Stanford Prison Experiment [video]. London; OnlineClassroom.tv, ClickView Limited;
   2013. (Available from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oAX9b7agT9o
   accessed 8
   February 2017).
- Scott TIM, Mannion R, Davies HT, Marshall MN. Implementing culture change in health care: theory and practice. International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2003;15(2):111-8. Epub 1 March 2003. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzg021.
- The Health Foundation. Transforming the culture of mental health services through peer support [website]; The Health Foundation. (Available from: <a href="http://www.health.org.uk/programmes/closing-gap-through-changing-relationships/projects/transforming-culture-mental-health">http://www.health.org.uk/programmes/closing-gap-through-changing-</a> relationships/projects/transforming-culture-mental-health, accessed 8 February 2017).

- The Health Foundation. Inspiring Improvement, Closing the Gap, Transforming the culture of mental health services through peer support: learning from the project [online publication]. (Available from: <u>http://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/TransformingCultureMentalHealthServicesPeer</u> <u>Support.pdf</u>, accessed 8 February 2017).
- Davidow S. A Handbook for Individuals Working in Peer Roles, p.87 [online publication]; Western Mass Peer Network; 2014. (Available from: <u>http://www.psresources.info/images/stories/peer\_role\_booklet\_peer\_side.pdf</u>, accessed 15 February 2017).